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Our Purpose

The primary purpose of the
Bank is the promotion of
monetary, credit and exchange
conditions most favourable to
the development of the economy
of Trinidad and Tobago.
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Governor’s
Foreword

Ewart S. Williams
Chairman of the Board
Governor

During 2007, the international financial
system underwent a series of major shocks.
By the close of the financial year, there was
clear evidence that the reverberations from
the sub-prime crisis in the United States
were having a wide geographic impact.
These developments combined with rising
commodity prices, and the continued
depreciation of the US dollar against the
major trading currencies prompted downward
revisions to the economic outlook for several
of the major world economies. Global growth
is now expected to slow to 3.7 per cent in
2008 well below the 4.9 per cent achieved
in 2007, despite strong performances from
emerging economies and especially emerging
Asia. Soaring oil and food prices have also
contributed to a sharp surge in inflation
worldwide.
The Trinidad and Tobago economy recorded
real GDP growth in 2007 of around 5.5 per
cent with the non-energy sector growing at a
faster rate than the energy sector. The rate
of growth in 2007 represented a substantial
slowdown from the previous year’s rate of
12.2 per cent which reflected a full year’s
production from two major operations,
Atlantic LNG Train IV and M5000, a new
methanol plant. The 2007 rate compared

with the average of 9.6 per cent over 20022006 and the economy’s estimated long-term
growth potential of about 6.0 – 7.0 per cent.
In the context of buoyant energy prices the
country’s external position remained robust
with a current account surplus estimated at
20.0 per cent of GDP. The stock of reserves
increased by US$1.5 billion and amounted to
US$6.7 billion at year-end or approximately
10 months of import cover. In addition, the
Heritage and Stabilisation Fund stood at
US$ 1,788.3 million at the end of the year
compared with $1,376.7 million at the start
of the financial year.
During 2007, the Bank grappled with
persistent inflationary pressures, reflecting
higher food prices in the context of excessive
domestic demand.
While inflation was
brought down to around 7.3 per cent
in October 2007, it has started to trend
upwards to a rate of 9.8 per cent in March
2008.
All indications are that inflation
control will continue to be a major challenge
throughout 2008. The difficulties posed by
domestic capacity constraints will be further
exacerbated by escalating commodity prices,
both fuel and non-fuel, which are expected
to remain elevated over the short to medium
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Governor’s Foreword
term. Fiscal and monetary policy will have
major roles to play in containing inflation
and inflationary expectations.
Early last year, the Central Bank launched
the National Financial Literacy Programme
(NFLP). Since then we have made a number
of important interventions, including an
outreach to primary and secondary schools,
and at the community level, mostly in rural
areas, as well as a series of sessions in the
workplace implemented in collaboration
with the employer community. The Bank
also commissioned a National Financial
Literacy Survey, the results of which provide
an important benchmark for measuring
success of the NFLP going forward.
During the year further progress was made
in the area of financial legislative reform.
We expect that the draft legislation for a new
Financial Institutions Act will be presented to
Parliament later this year. Policy proposals
aimed at strengthening the regulatory regime
for credit unions, insurance companies
and pension funds are in various stages of
completion. These proposals will inform the
drafting of legislation over the coming year.
The Bank has embarked on a new three
(3) year Strategic Plan 2008-2010 which is

directed towards enabling the institution to
meet the new challenges emerging in the
domestic and global market environment. The
Strategic Plan is set against the background
of the government’s comprehensive reform
agenda – Vision 2020 – which is designed for
Trinidad and Tobago to achieve developed
country status by 2020.
Among the key priorities of the Strategic
Plan are: the completion of modernization of
the legal framework for the financial sector;
the establishment of a regulatory framework
to ensure the safety and efficiency of the
payment system; a deepening of the local
capital market; strengthening/broadening
of the range of mechanisms for monetary
management and an emphasis on increased
automation of systems and business
processes.
The
Strategic
Plan
envisages
the
implementation of a number of critical
projects during the coming year. As in the
past, the achievement of the objectives set
will require the support and collaboration of
the Board, Management and staff.
I am confident that this will be forthcoming
and that we will successfully meet many
challenges together.

Governor
Ewart S. Williams
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Governance
Statutory Responsibilities
The Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago
(Bank) was established by an Act of Parliament,
the Central Bank Act, 1964, with the Government
as the sole shareholder. The Central Bank
Act, as amended in 1994, sets out the major
activities of the Bank which can be summarised
as follows:
•

issuing the domestic currency;

•

conducting monetary policy to
maintain internal price stability;

•

managing the external reserves;

•

promoting the development of
a sound and efficient financial
system;

•

providing banking services to the
Government;

•

conducting research.

The Bank is also authorised by the Financial
Institutions Act, 1993 (FIA) to license and
supervise financial institutions.
More recently, the responsibilities of the
Bank have been broadened. In May 2004,
the Bank took over the responsibility for
supervising insurance companies and private
pension plans from the Ministry of Finance.
Then, in July 2005, Cabinet took the decision
to have the Bank assume responsibility for
supervising the financial activities of Credit
Unions. The legislation to effect this new
responsibility is being developed in
consultation with the credit union sector.

The Board of Directors
The Central Bank Act provides for the
appointment of a Board of Directors to
manage the institution. Members of the Board
are appointed by the President of the Republic
of Trinidad and Tobago and comprise the
Governor, not more than two Deputy
Governors and not less than six other

directors, two of whom may be from the public
service. The two public service directors are to
be drawn from the Ministry of Finance and
from the Ministry or appropriate Department
of Government responsible for economic
planning. The other directors are selected
from amongst persons drawn from diverse
occupations and qualified by reason of their
experience and capacity in matters relating
to finance, economics, accountancy, industry,
commerce, law and administration. The
Board has specific statutory responsibilities
in accordance with certain provisions of the
Central Bank Act, 1964, the Financial
Institutions Act, 1993 (FIA) and the Insurance
Act, Chapter 84:01.
The Governor is the Chief Executive Officer
and is charged with the day-to-day
management, administration, direction and
control of the business of the Bank, with
authority to act in all matters which are
not specifically reserved for the Board.
He is answerable to the Board for his actions
and decisions.

Committees of the Board
In order to monitor the adequacy of systems
and controls and to maintain probity and
integrity in the conduct of the financial
activities of the Bank, the Board has appointed
an Audit Committee comprised of non-executive
directors. The Senior Manager, Internal Audit
and Corporate Governance is the Secretary
to this committee.
A Personnel Committee, comprised of nonexecutive directors and having the Senior
Manager, Human Resource and Communications
as its Secretary, has also been appointed to
deal mainly with compensation and performance
management issues.
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Governance
New Developments
Mr. Ewart Williams, Governor and Chairman
of the Board of Directors, was re-appointed
to a further five-year term, effective July 17,
2007 and expiring on July 16, 2012. His first
five-year term began on July 16, 2002. Two
members of the Board were re-appointed for a
second three-year term. Mr. Norris Campbell was
reappointed effective July 7, 2007, while Mrs.
Alison Lewis, representative of the Ministry of
Finance, was re-appointed effective November 11,
2007. On January 2, 2007, Mr. Carl Hiralal was
appointed Inspector of Financial Institutions.

Mr. Hiralal brings to the Bank over twentyfive years experience in supervising and
regulating financial institutions at the Office
of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions,
Canada.

Samples of currency issued in 1943
Central Bank Money Museum
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Brass Rocker Balance
used to test weight, balance and
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Central Bank Money Museum
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Departmental
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Brass Money Box.
Central Bank Money Museum
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Review of
Activities

2006 - 2007

Flint / Obsidian stone used as
both a tool and to barter as currency.
Central Bank Money Museum

HIGHLIGHTS
• The Insurance Act was amended to allow
well funded pension plans to invest in
additional equities above the original
50 per cent limitation.
• The Bank published its policy document,
Payment Systems Oversight Policy,
which outlines the objectives, scope and
approach to the oversight function.
• The Bank introduced new security
features to the entire suite of currency
notes. The upgraded $1 and $5 notes
were put into circulation in February
2007.
• The legislation for the Heritage and
Stabilisation Fund (HSF) was passed in
Parliament on March 6, 2007 and the
Bank was appointed as its manager.
• Parliament approved an increase in the
authorised capital of the Bank from
$100 million to $800 million on August
21, 2007.
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Review of Activities 2006-2007
MONETARY POLICY FORMULATION
Economic Environment
The turbulence in global financial markets
stemming from the sub-prime mortgage
market crisis in the United States has raised
the possibility of a slow-down in the world
economy in 2008, despite the robust economic
performance in the first half of 2007. The
global economy registered growth of over
5 per cent in the first half of 2007, but prospects
for 2008 have already been lowered. The U.S.
economy grew by 2.5 per cent in the first half
of 2007, while developing countries such as
China and India exhibited much stronger
growth of 11.5 per cent and 9.5 per cent,
respectively. The risk of slower economic
growth in the U.S. has resulted in a loosening
of the monetary policy stance of the Federal
Reserve Bank. The Fed reduced its policy
rate in September and October 2007, in the
first instance from 5.25 per cent to 4.75 per
cent and in the second instance to 4.50 per
cent. On the other hand, inflation in both
the U.S. and Euro-zone registered below 2
per cent in September 2007. However, high
oil prices and a worldwide increase in food
prices may threaten global price stability.
Trinidad and Tobago’s economy continued to
expand in 2007, albeit at a moderated pace.
Real output is expected to increase by 5.5
per cent in 2007, compared with 12.2 per
cent in 2006. The deceleration in economic
growth stems from developments in the energy
sector, which is anticipated to have slowed
to 4.4 per cent in 2007 compared with 21.4
per cent in 2006. The non-energy sector
continued on a steady growth path, expanding
by 6.7 per cent in 2007 compared with
6.6 per cent in 2006. The Manufacturing
(8 per cent), Distribution (10.3 per cent) and
Finance (10.5 per cent) sectors were the
main drivers of this strong performance. The

1

10

domestic economy continued to experience
inflationary pressures during the fiscal year.
As a result, the Central Bank maintained a
relatively tight monetary policy stance. The
Bank focussed on liquidity absorption
measures, increased use of open market
operations as well as the implementation of
other liquidity absorption initiatives.
In the context of buoyant energy prices,
the country’s external position remained
healthy, with the current account surplus
estimated at 20 per cent of GDP. As a result,
official reserves increased by US$1.2 billion
during the fiscal year. As at the end of
September, net international reserves
stood at US$6.4 billion, representing
approximately 10 months of import cover.1

Monetary Policy
As was the case with most central banks
around the world, inflation was a challenge
in 2007. The major drivers of inflation were
unprecedented increases in food prices as
well as high commodity prices. The Bank
achieved some success in its bid to control
prices as the inflation rate moderated in fiscal
2007, following the peak of 10 per cent in
October 2006. On a year-on-year basis to
September 2007, the inflation rate measured
7.3 per cent compared with 9.6 per cent one
year earlier. The food component, which is
usually the main source of inflation, fell to its
lowest rate in nearly three years. The food sub
index increased by 14 per cent on a year-onyear basis to September 2007 compared with
27.4 per cent in the corresponding period one
year earlier. However, core inflation which
excludes the usually volatile food component
continued to gain momentum. The year-onyear change in core inflation at September

This excludes the balances held in the Heritage and Stabilisation Fund established in March 2007.
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2007 stood at 4.6 per cent compared with
3.9 per cent in September 2006.
In response to the underlying inflationary
pressures, the Bank opted to keep its main
policy rate (repo rate), unchanged at 8 per
cent as increases in the policy rate were not
fully transmitted throughout the financial
system. Instead, the Bank focussed on liquidity
absorption measures, including intensified
use of open market operations. In the fiscal
year 2007, the Bank issued open market
operations treasury bills and notes in the
net amount of $3,457.8 million, more than
double the $1,256.3 million issued in fiscal
2006. Three liquidity absorption government
bonds were issued in fiscal 2007. The first
was an eight year $700 million issue at a
yield of 8.15 per cent in November 2006.
The second was a five and a half year $674.3
million issue at a yield of 7.8 per cent in
February 2007 and the third was a seven
year $1,018 million issue at a yield of 8 per
cent in April 2007.
These activities were somewhat effective in
containing the level of liquidity. During the
year, “excess liquidity” in the system averaged
$284.8 million compared with $483.5
million in the previous year. This improvement
in liquidity conditions occurred amid large
fiscal injections. The non-energy fiscal
deficit remained high at 15.4 per cent of GDP
(compared with 15.3 per cent in 2006).
The relatively tighter liquidity levels caused
an upward shift in the level of interest rates.
Inter-bank market rates averaged 7.23 per
cent during fiscal 2007 compared with 5.47
per cent in fiscal 2006. The three month treasury
bill rate increased to 6.97 per cent at the end
of September 2007 from 6.72 per cent at the
end of October 2006. Although commercial
banks’ prime lending rate was unchanged
at 11.75 per cent during the fiscal year, the
banks’ weighted average lending and deposit
rates increased. The weighted average lending
rate increased by 67 basis points to 10.60 per
cent in September 2007 from 9.93 per cent
one year ago, while the weighted average
deposit rate increased to 2.81 per cent from

2.30 per cent during the same period.
Despite higher interest rates, private sector
credit from the consolidated financial system
remained buoyant. In fiscal 2007, the ratio of
private sector credit to GDP rose to 29.3 per
cent from 26.8 per cent. However, growth
in monetary aggregates slowed in the twelve
months to September 2007. Narrow money,
M-1A, rose by 3.1 per cent on a year on year
basis to September compared with 29.3 per
cent one year earlier. This slower growth
in M-1A, was as a result of sluggish growth
in demand deposits which increased by 2.3
per cent in September 2007 compared with
34 per cent one year earlier. Broad money,
M-2, which consists of M-1A plus savings
and time deposits grew by 11.1 per cent,
with quasi money (time deposits plus
savings deposits) increasing by 17.4 per cent.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE MARKET
OPERATIONS
The Bank remains committed to a flexible
exchange rate policy. In most countries
with flexible exchange rate regimes, the bulk
of the foreign exchange is available for
direct trading in the market. In Trinidad
and Tobago a significant part of the foreign
exchange accrues to the Bank in the form
of government’s tax receipts from the energy
sector. Therefore the Bank actively participates
in the market to smooth out seasonal fluctuations.
The foreign exchange market was stable
throughout the year. In the context of buoyant
commodity prices and continued economic
growth, the market benefitted from larger
inflows of foreign currency than in the
previous year. Purchases from the public by
the commercial banks climbed to US$3.8
billion, an increase of 38 per cent over the
previous year’s level of US$2.8 billion.
The demand for foreign exchange also
moved upwards in the face of strong economic
growth. Sales to the public increased by
29.6 per cent, to close to US$5.0 billion
over the year.
With improved market
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intelligence, the Bank was able to make more
timely interventions in the foreign exchange
market. The Bank sold a total of US$1.2
billion to authorised dealers over the
financial year, about the same amount
as in the previous year. The movement in
purchases and sales of foreign exchange
during the year is shown in Chart I.

during the previous year. The spread between
the average monthly buying and selling rate
remained stable at 0.8556. Chart II shows
the movement in the spread. Given the
weakening of the US dollar over the period,
the TT dollar has declined vis a vis the Euro,
pound sterling and Canadian dollar.

The exchange rate (selling) fluctuated within a
range of $6.3093 and $6.3351 to the US dollar
over the year, compared to $6.2891 and $6.3306

Chart I
Purchases and Sales of Foreign Exchange
October 2006 - September 2007
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Chart II
US Dollar Exchange Rate
October 2006 - September 2007

FINANCIAL SYSTEM SURVEILLANCE
Supervision of Licensed Financial
Institutions and Pension Plans
Thirty-one on-site examinations were completed
during the year - ten licensed financial institutions,
sixteen insurance companies and five pension
plans. The examinations focussed on assessing
the effectiveness of corporate governance
and control frameworks across the financial
institutions. The Bank held sessions with
external auditors as part of the on-site
examinations. Discussion ranged around
the issue of adopting accounting standards
for fuller disclosure and the treatment
of asset classes under the Insurance Act.

compliance action particularly through greater
surveillance of entities operating in the market.
This forced several unregistered intermediaries
to discontinue their illegal operations.

During the year, the Bank found it necessary
to initiate intervention action in one company
for its continuing contravention of the Insurance
Act. In addition, the two insurance companies,
which were earlier placed under intervention
by the Bank, have had liquidators appointed
by the courts for final winding up of their
business. The Bank also strengthened its

In other developments, one foreign bank was
granted a license for retail banking and the
total number of licensed commercial banks
is now seven. FirstCaribbean International
Bank (FCIB), formerly known as Mercantile
Banking and Financial Corporation Limited,
began operations as a commercial bank on
May 28, 2007. Another commercial bank,

Macroprudential indicators show that the
banking system is well capitalised with a
capital adequacy ratio of over 20 per cent,
well above the 8 per cent statutory minimum.
Non performing loans for the system as a
whole average just under 2 per cent and the
banks have recorded healthy profits.
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the Bank of Baroda (Trinidad and Tobago)
Limited joined the system in October, 2007.
The Royal Bank of Canada (RBC) reached
preliminary agreement on the acquisition of
the assets of RBTT Financial Holdings Limited
for $13.8 billion. The proposal involves a
share price of $40 to be settled in cash (60
per cent) and in common shares (40 per cent)
in RBC. Approvals are pending from shareholders as well as regulatory authorities in
several jurisdictions in the Caribbean region
and North America.

Legislative and Regulatory Framework
Efforts at strengthening the legislative and
regulatory framework of the financial system
continued during the year. The Bank held
consultation sessions on four pieces of proposed
new legislation covering banks, insurance
companies, credit unions and pension plans.
A draft Bill which replaces the Financial
Institutions Act, 1993 is ready to be presented
to Parliament.
Policy proposals aimed at
strengthening the governance and prudential
regime of credit unions, insurance companies
and pension funds are in various stages of
completion. These proposals will inform the
drafting of legislation over the coming year.
Meanwhile, the Insurance Act was amended
to allow well-funded pension plans to invest
in additional equities above the original 50
per cent limitation. This development, which
is an interim measure pending the
new legislation for pension plans, was
introduced to mitigate the impact on pension
plans of upward movements in equity prices.
In keeping with the Bank’s mandate to promote
a strong banking sector consistent with
international best practices, the full range
of capital charges (under the Basel Amendment
to the Capital Accord to Incorporate Market
Risks) will become applicable to licensed
financial institutions with effect from January
1, 2008. In addition, a guideline on the
Measurement, Monitoring and Control of
Impaired Assets was issued to licensed

14

financial institutions, insurance companies
and pension funds in July 2007. The guideline outlines minimum standards for the
recognition, monitoring and measurement
of impaired assets by financial institutions.

Other Initiatives
As Chair of the Caribbean Group of Bank
Supervisors (CGBS), the Bank concluded two
initiatives aimed at a harmonised approach
to applying capital charges for CARICOM
sovereigns’ debt and the implementation
of the Market Risk Amendment for interest
rate and other risks.

PAYMENTS SYSTEM OVERSIGHT
During this financial year, the Bank completed
arrangements to conduct oversight of
systemically important payment systems.
This included the publication on its
website of (1) the policy document, Payment
Systems Oversight Policy which outlines
the Bank’s objectives, scope and approach
to oversight and (2) a framework document
entitled
Methodological
Guidance
for
Evaluation of Systemically Important Payment
Systems which explained the assessment
process.
The first formal evaluation of
the Real Time Gross Settlement System
commenced in September 2007.

BANKING OPERATIONS
Currency Operations
Currency in circulation increased by 16.6
per cent to $3,435 million in 2007 (October
2006 – September 2007), marginally higher
than the growth rate of 16.0 per cent in
the previous year.
The steady growth
in currency in circulation attests to the
continuing importance of currency notes
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and coins notwithstanding an increase in
the use of electronic means of payment.
The normal pattern in demand for currency,
which shows a marked increase in the October
– December quarter, remained unchanged.
Chart III below refers. The Bank issued 61.6
million new banknotes, 11 per cent less than
the total of 69.4 million issued in the previous
year, as the number of reissued notes rose
by 48.5 per cent. The latter was attributable
to greater efficiencies in processing with
improved technology.

The $1 denomination continued to represent
the largest share (48 per cent) of notes issued,
while the 1 cent piece remained the most
widely circulated coin, accounting for over
52 per cent of the total volume of coins
in circulation.
Charts IV and V show
the relative share of each denomination
of both notes and coins in circulation
as at the end of September 2007.

Chart III
Currency in Circulation
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Chart IV
Notes in Circulation by Denomination

Chart V
Volume of Coins in Circulation

There are a limited number of $1 coins in circulation. Given the limited volume, the share is not discernable
in the chart.
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In 2007, the Bank introduced new security
features to the entire suite of currency
notes. The enhanced features include, inter
alia, denomination specific bird watermarks,
vertical numbering in a blue colour and the
2006 series date. The upgraded $1 and $5
notes were put into circulation in February
2007, while the upgraded notes of the other
denominations - the $10, $20 and $100 - were
introduced towards the end of the year.

Clearing and Settlement Systems
Use of Cheques
Cheque usage also remained relatively constant
in 2007. Whereas the volume of cheques
cleared grew by 1.3 per cent in 2006, growth
edged up moderately to 1.8 per cent in
2007. However, the value of cheques issued
declined by almost 10 per cent to $220.7
billion in 2007, suggesting that the average
cheque value has declined.

average of $32,578 million in 2007. This
suggests that a larger number of smaller
time-critical payments were processed
through the system.
The increase in use of electronic means of
payment was more dramatic at the retail
level. The number and value of transactions
processed through the Automated Clearing
House (ACH) increased steadily throughout
2007. The average monthly volume rose
almost fourfold from 25.9 thousand in
October 2006 to 95.4 thousand in September
2007, while the value of transactions over
the same period more than doubled to
$306.0 million. Chart VI shows the
growth in electronic payments through the
Automated Clearing House (ACH).

The Bank continued to manage a clearing
house facility for cheques.
At the same
time, the Bank took steps to discourage the
use of cheques for large value payments
in particular, through the introduction of
a charge of $100 on large value cheques
settlement (i.e. cheques valued $500,000
and over). In addition, the Bank sought
to build awareness of the advantages of
non-paper means of payment through the
publication of information on its website and
discussions with various interest groups.
Electronic Payments
There was increased usage of electronic
means of payment in 2007. The monthly
average number of transactions settled on
Safe-tt, the Real Time Gross Settlement,
grew by 21 per cent to 2,652. However, the
value of these transactions increased by
just 10 per cent, from a monthly average
of $29,396 million in 2006 to a monthly
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Chart VI
ACH Average Monthly Volumes

Financial Institutions Deposits
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• A deposit of $1.0 billion which was
rolled over for one year, to mature in
December 2007; and

The statutory reserve requirement for
commercial banks and non-bank financial
institutions remained unchanged at 11 and
9 per cent respectively. Reflecting the increase
in deposits held by these institutions, the
average monthly cash balances held as
statutory reserves increased by 15.7 per
cent and approximately 1.0 per cent for the
banks and non-banks, respectively.

Government Deposits – Blocked Accounts

Additionally, commercial banks held various
special deposits as part of the intensified
liquidity absorption policy undertaken by
the Bank. These deposits, which are all
remunerated and temporary in nature, comprise
the following:

In co-operation with the Ministry of Finance,
a number of government securities were
issued for liquidity absorption purposes.
Consequently, the proceeds of these issues
were held in a blocked account at the Bank.
These issues were as follows:

• A secondary reserve requirement of 2 per
cent of deposit liabilities, first introduced in
2006;

• An 8 year 8.15 per cent government
bond 2014 with a face value of $700
million issued in November 2006;

• A deposit of $0.5 billion which was rolled
over for one year, to mature in June 2008.
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• A 5½ year 7.8 per cent government bond
2012 with a face value of $674 million
issued in February 2007;
• A 7 year government bond 2014 with a
face value of $1.0 billion issued in April
2007; and
• A 5 year Treasury Note with a face value
of $500 million issued in May 2007 to
commercial banks.

Regional Activities
Bank of Guyana Consolidated Debt
The Bank of Guyana’s debt to Trinidad and
Tobago is a consolidation of loans owed to
the Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago
and the Government of Trinidad and Tobago
since 1974. This bilateral debt was
rescheduled under the Enhanced Heavily
Indebted Poor Countries (HIPC) Initiative in
October 2005 which reduced the outstanding
debt to US$55 million. Scheduled payments
continued to be made on a semi-annual basis.
During this financial year, US$3.2 million
was received from Guyana of which US$2.6
million was paid to the Bank.
CMCF
The Bank of Guyana was also indebted to
the CARICOM Multilateral Clearing Facility
(CMCF) which remains dormant at present.
As Agent for the CMCF, the Bank provided
support to the Board of Governors of the
CMCF in formulating a modality for providing
debt relief to Guyana under the Enhanced
HIPC Initiative.
The modality envisages
funding from a number of sources including
a drawdown from HIPC Trust Fund.

Other Services
Downtown Owners & Merchant Association
(DOMA) Facility
The DOMA facility was established by
Government to aid the Downtown Merchants
to reconstruct their businesses which were
destroyed in an attempted coup in 1990.
Over the period under review the majority
of these loans became due; a total of eleven
(11) loans valued at $1,906,914.15 remain
outstanding.
Lines of Credit
The Bank continued to administer the
Export Development Canada (EDC) line of
credit facility, established to support the
importation of Canadian capital goods.
No new funds were accessed during the
financial year, however the Bank finalised
arrangements with one new participant
to access funds under the facility. During
the year there were repayments of US$0.3
million under the facility.
Agency Functions
The Bank continued to perform the function
of Registrar and Paying Agent for all bonds
issued under the automated auction system
for the central government, as well as some
State Enterprises. During the year the Bank
completed preliminary arrangements to
assume the registrar function for all other
central government bonds. Total interest
paid for bonds in fiscal 2007, under the
Development Loans Act, Chap 71:04
amounted to $49.8 million. Under the Public
Sector (Arrears of Emoluments) Act 1995 and
the Public Sector (Arrears of Emoluments)
Amendment Act 1998, payments of $0.288
million were made compared with $0.350
million in the previous year.
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DOMESTIC MARKET OPERATIONS
The Bank managed the issue of four (4)
government bonds which raised a total
of $2,867.279 million in fiscal 2007.
This compares with the total face value of
$1,267 million in the previous year.
Additionally, the Bank managed a bond issue
on behalf of the Housing Development
Corporation
(formerly
the
NHA)
in
October 2006. This bond had a maturity
of 15 years and a coupon rate of 8.50 per cent.
It was fully allocated to yield investors 8.75
per cent to maturity.
However, the major focus during the year
was on developing the secondary market for
government bond issues. The Bank worked
in conjunction with the Trinidad and Tobago
Securities and Exchange Commission (TTSEC)
and the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange
(TTSE) to establish the automated infrastructure
for secondary market trading of government
bonds. This included the establishment of
an electronic platform, formulating agreed
rules and operational procedures as well as
training of particular actors. The secondary
market trading of corporate and other bond
issues in the automated platform is expected
to come on stream at a later date.
Alongside these developments, the Bank has
been assisting the Ministry of Finance with
dematerialising government bonds and having
them all registered in the electronic depository
at the Bank. It is expected that this process
will be completed in 2008.

FOREIGN RESERVES MANAGEMENT
There were no changes to the broad approach
to managing the country’s foreign reserves.
Accordingly, the portfolio continued to be
held largely in US dollar fixed income and
money market instruments.
Following passage of the Heritage and
Stabilisation Fund (HSF) Act 2007, US$1.5
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billion was transferred from the foreign
reserves portfolio to the HSF. The Bank was
appointed manager of the HSF and now
therefore manages two portfolios: the country’s
foreign exchange reserves and the funds of
the HSF. The Bank has engaged the services
of the World Bank to provide advice on the
latter.
With regard to the management of the foreign
exchange reserves, the return on internally
managed funds exceeded the established
benchmark. The performance of the four
External Managers reflected the weakness
in the US market consequent to revelations
on the sub-prime mortgage market and its
spill over effects. The rate of return on the
portfolio averaged 6.19 per cent, up from
4.39 per cent in 2006.

RESEARCH AND KNOWLEDGE SERVICES
During 2007, the major research activities
at the Bank remained centered on the
provision of economic intelligence and research
to support the monetary policy function. The
Research Programme addressed several issues
including: Purchasing Power Parity; Leading
and Lagging Indicators; Potential GDP;
A Profile of the Transportation Sector; Towards
A Single Economy: The Challenge of Inflation
Convergence. The papers were presented
at the annual in-house seminar held in
October 2007 and at other regional fora.
Staff participated in several regional and
international conferences including:
• Annual Monetary Studies Conference of
the Caribbean Centre for Monetary Studies
(Barbados).
• Annual Meeting of the Inter-American
Development Bank (Guatemala).
• BIS Regional Seminar on Monetary
Policy (Colombia).
The Bank continued to upgrade its technological
platform. Upgrades were implemented to a
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number of business processes, including in
the areas of currency management, portfolio
management, government securities trading
and payment systems.
In addition, the Bank completed an upgrade
to its document management solution and
introduced the web versions of its information
processing and delivery systems with a
view to providing greater flexibility and online
access to information from the desktop.
Work continued on the migration of the
Bank’s corporate information to digital media
and microform for preservation purposes.

brought a richness and dynamism to the
lecture that made this year’s programme
most memorable.
As was done in recent years, the lecture was
preceded by the pre-Dr. Eric Williams
Memorial Lecture series for secondary
school students. The presenters for this
pre-lecture series were Professor Selwyn
Cudjoe and Mr. Michael Anthony. Professor
Cudjoe provided a wealth of knowledge on
the late Dr. Eric Williams as a politician while
Mr. Anthony focussed on Dr. Eric Williams, the
private person and sportsman.
Pamphlet Series

OUTREACH PROGRAMMES

The Bank published the third pamphlet of
its Public Education series, The Residential
Mortgage Market in Trinidad and Tobago.
This series is geared toward providing broad
information on topics relevant to the management
of the Trinidad and Tobago economy.
Official Visits

Honourable Rex Nettleford delivering the feature address
against the back-drop of Woodford Square

Dr. Eric Williams Memorial Lecture
The Bank hosted the twenty-first edition of
the Dr. Eric Williams Memorial Lecture on
May 25, 2007 in the Central Bank Auditorium.
The lecturer on this occasion was the Honourable
Professor Rex Nettleford O.M., F.I.J., ViceChancellor Emeritus University of the West
Indies. The Professor delivered a thought
provoking lecture entitled, Slavery and
Education in the Caribbean: Mask, Myth and
Metaphor.
This topic was timely because this year also
marked the 200th Anniversary of the abolition
of the slave trade. As an international scholar
on culture and education, Professor Nettleford

A delegation from the People’s Bank of China
paid an official visit to the Bank on May 28,
2007. The delegation was headed by the First
Deputy Governor Xaoling Wu. His Excellency
Huang Xing, Ambassador to Trinidad and
Tobago for the People’s Republic of China,
accompanied the delegation who met with
Governor Williams to discuss a range of
financial and economic matters.
Representatives from the International
Monetary Fund visited Trinidad and Tobago
in May 2007 to present the IMF Regional
Economic Outlook, a report on the economy
of the region. A press conference was held
on May 7, 2007 at which the Fund staff
addressed the media and answered questions
on the prospects for regional economies.
Representatives from the World Bank hosted
a public consultation on the Heritage and
Stabilisation Fund (HSF) on May 7, 2007
at the Central Bank.
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Community Outreach
The Bank hosted a number of schools in 2007
as part of its Outreach Programme. During
these sessions, students were informed
about the role, organisation and functions of

of the bicentennial of the arrival of the Chinese
community into Trinidad and Tobago, was
held in October 2006. This exhibition featured
pieces of the Bank’s art collection as well as
other works done by artists representing the
Chinese community.
In September, to commemorate Trinidad and
Tobago’s Republican status, the Bank hosted
an exhibition entitled The Story of a Nation
which showcased selected pieces from the
Bank’s art collection.
In October 2007, the Bank hosted an
exhibition by the Association of Caribbean
States. This comprised a selection of
approximately 200 pieces under the theme:
Greater Caribbean Art of the 21st Century.

People’s Bank of China
Official Delegation

Staff Social Activities

the Bank. In February, the Bank partnered
with the Central Statistical Office and the
Ministry of Finance to conduct a series of
lectures targeted to students at the Advanced
Economics level.
Bankers in Concert, a collaboration between
the Central Bank and the commercial
banks, was held in November 2006. Money
raised was donated to the ‘We Care’ charity.
In August, the Bank embarked on another
fundraiser entitled ‘Back to School’, to again
raise funds for the ‘We Care’ charity. This
event provided a range of school supplies
which was given to five Children’s Homes.
Money Museum and Exhibitions
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Central Bank
Money Museum

The Bank’s staff engaged in several social
activities during the year. At the centre
of these activities were the Family Day and
a Pot Pourri displaying the arts and craft
talent of members of staff.

Some 1,400 persons visited the Money Museum
during the year compared with 1,825 persons
in the previous year. The museum continued
to be strongly patronised by school children.

The Annual Staff Dinner held in December
was a tremendous success with a record
turnout by staff as well as retirees.

The Bank hosted three exhibitions in the
foyer of the museum during the year. The
first, a special art exhibition in celebration

The staff continued to celebrate religious
and other national events - Emancipation,
Indian Arrival Day, Eid and Divali. There was
bank-wide involvement in these events and
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the Bank received much positive feedback
from staff members.
The Central Bank Retirees Club
The Bank continued to provide support to the
Central Bank Retirees Club during the period
under review. The Club remains one of the
conduits through which the Bank maintains
contact with members of staff who have since
retired.

NATIONAL FINANCIAL LITERACY
PROGRAMME

HUMAN RESOURCES
During the year, the Bank implemented
a number of initiatives in response to
increasing competition for key resources
in certain areas of the Bank.
Over the year, the Bank employed forty new
employees and bade farewell to thirteen
persons, including two retirees. At the
close of the financial year the Bank’s
staff complement totalled four hundred and
forty-eight (448) representing a 4 per cent
increase over the figure of four hundred and
twenty-nine (429) at the end of the last
financial year.

Performance Management
In the 2006/2007 budget statement, the
Prime Minister and Minister of Finance
announced the commencement of a National
Financial Literacy Programme (NFLP) to be
spearheaded by the Bank. The main objective
of the NFLP is to provide the country’s citizens
with the knowledge and skills to enable
them to make informed financial decisions
appropriate to their circumstance. The NFLP
was formally launched at the Bank on
January 31, 2007.
At the launch, the
Programme’s logo, website, brochure and
jingle were released to the public. The
Secretariat for the NFLP is located at the
Bank and discussions are also being held
with the Tobago House of Assembly (THA),
in order to have the Programme conducted
in Tobago. Since its launch, the NFLP has
impacted various sectors of the society. In
particular, interventions have been made
with several specific groups including
primary and secondary schools, employees
in the workplace and community groups. To
date, funding for the NFLP has been obtained
from the Ministry of Finance, the Bank, the
Bankers’ Association and other stakeholders.

In keeping with management’s commitment
to improving the Bank’s systems and
processes, the Performance Management
System was reviewed during this financial
year and revisions made based on feedback
from staff and workers representation.
A revised Performance Management System
is to be implemented from the 2007/2008
financial year. The 360 degree feedback
component of the performance evaluation
process was expanded to include associate
and senior management staff.

Training and Development
Much attention was again paid to the training
and development of staff. Over 80 per cent
of the total staff complement attended inhouse, local or foreign programmes as
staff members participated in 157 training
programmes. Mechanisms were instituted
and reinforced to ensure that learning was
shared both within and among the different
departments of the Bank.
Employees continued to benefit from
the Bank’s Lunch and Learn training
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programmes which were conducted quarterly.
Sessions included topics geared towards
professional and personal development.
The Human Resource Department partnered
with the National Financial Literacy
Programme to present a two part series
on Financial Planning. These sessions, which
focussed on the importance of savings and
investments and retirement planning, were
particularly well received.
The Bank offered a three-month Spanish
Language Proficiency Programme to its
employees in an effort to improve competence
in this language. The facilitators utilised a
parallel-blended approach with simultaneous
online learning and face-to-face sessions in
a classroom setting. Fifty (50) employees

Member of staff conducting research
in the Bank’s Library

benefitted from these sessions. Feedback from
The facilitators and staff indicated that
participants were highly motivated and
progressed steadily.

Vacation Internship Programme
The
Vacation
Internship
Programme
experienced another successful year in 2007.
Now in its fourth year, a total of 14 second
and final year undergraduate students
pursuing degrees in diverse disciplines were
accepted for the Internship programme.
The students were exposed to project-based
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on-the-job training designed to strengthen
their technical skills. This was augmented
by formal classroom training in areas such
as Career Management, Communication
and Financial Planning. This year, increased
focus was placed on the Mentorship aspect
of the Programme, and each Intern was
partnered with a more experienced
professional to provide him/her with on-going
support and guidance in achieving career
aspirations.

Employee and Industrial Relations
The Bank concluded negotiations for
Bargaining Units I and III for the period
2006-2008 culminating in the signing of
Collective Agreements in April 2007. A major
outcome of the negotiations was the
introduction and implementation of an
Employees’ Savings Plan. The Bank continues
to partner with the workers’ representatives
and management meets regularly in a
non-crisis setting with the Local Branch
representatives to pre-empt and resolve staff
concerns.
A Health, Safety & Environment (HSE) Officer
was recruited in June 2007 and a HSE
Committee comprising management and
worker representatives was established in
early 2007.

Employee Wellness
The Bank continued to subsidise membership in the newly renovated gym facilities as
part of its effort to promote health and fitness
among staff. A number of enhancements
to the staff medical plan, including an
expansion in major medical coverage, were
introduced during the period.

Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago Annual Report 2007

Review of Activities 2006-2007
BUSINESS CONTINUITY PLANNING
During the year under review, the Bank
continued implementation of its Business
Continuity Plan (BCP). The main objective
of the Plan is to ensure that the Bank’s core
business functions recover as quickly and as
effectively as possible following any unforeseen
event that interrupts normal business
operations. As part of the agreed strategy,
a series of table top tests was carried out,
which required all teams of the Business
Continuity Organisation to ‘react’ to a number of
probable scenarios. These scenarios asked
critical questions of the Emergency
Response and Business Continuity structures
and prompted modifications to achieve an
improved state of readiness.

The Business Continuity Steering Committee
also continued its meetings with other key
stakeholders as part of the BC communications
strategy. Towards the end of the year, a
Business Continuity Operational Schedule
was finalised by the BCP Steering Committee.
This Operational Schedule ensures that
the main aspects of the banks’ business
continuity readiness are confirmed, tested
and updated periodically.

Work continued on the BCP Financial Sector
Framework with a series of meetings which
started with a presentation to the Chair of
the Bankers’ Association of Trinidad and
Tobago (BATT) and continued with the
Interbank Crisis Management Committee
(ICMC) of the Bankers Association. A
Financial Sector Framework which detailed
the Emergency and Business Continuity
requirements of the financial sector was
delivered to the ICMC.
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The Year
Ahead
Early coins of China
Central Bank Money Museum

STRATEGIC PLANNING
In the year ahead, the Bank will embark on
the execution of the Strategic Plan 20082010. This plan follows the successful
completion of the previous strategic plan,
Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago 2005,
which outlined a set of core values to be
internalised by staff. Several projects were
outlined which transformed the Bank’s
internal workings. The Strategic Plan for
the next three years will address the
following key priorities:-

Monetary Management
• The development of a broad range of
instruments for use in liquidity
management.
• The development of mechanisms for
the co-ordination of monetary and fiscal
policies.

Capital Market Development
• Strengthening the infrastructure of
the primary auction system.
• The promotion of the secondary bond
market.

Financial System Regulation and
Financial Stability
• The completion of the modernisation of
the legal framework involving new legislation
covering banks and non-banks, insurance
companies, credit unions and private pension
funds.

Research and Statistical Support
• The intensification of research activities
focussing on monetary and foreign
exchange
market
issues
and
strengthening the statistical capacity
of the Bank.

Automation of Systems and Business
Processes
• The improvement of the degree of
automation in the systems and business
processes throughout the organisation.

Crisis Management
• The continuous upgrading of the
Business Continuity Plan.

Human Resource Management

Payments System
• The improvement of the safety and
efficiency of the payments system.

• Ensure organisational structure meets
the needs of the Bank.
• Improve the performance management
system so as to maximise employee
performance.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2007 (Expressed in Trinidad & Tobago Dollars)
Notes
ASSETS
Foreign currency assetsreign currency asset
Foreign currency cash and cash equivalents
Foreign currency investments
Foreign receivables
Subscriptions to international financial institutions
International Monetary Fund - Holdings of Special
Drawing Rights
Local currency assets
Local currency cash and cash equivalents
Local investments
Pension assets
Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses
Other assets
Property, plant and equipment

Sept 2007
$’000

4
5
7

20,921,217
20,557,442
350,472
121,578

24,569,069
16,346,317
291,377
121,491

9,105
41,959,814

20,711
41,348,965

4
5, 7
8
7
9
10

724,825
370,863
123,963
991,040
210,492
295,044
2,716,227
44,676,041

887,076
176,831
92,791
35,001
172,339
294,661
1,658,699
43,007,664

11

250,943

183,280

442,068
693,011

428,136
611,416

23,768,884
16,746,155
1,655,317
1,014,315
43,184,671

31,806,350
9,132,421
749,747
507,760
42,196,278

500,000
285,042
13,317
798,359
44,676,041

100,000
100,000
(30)
199,970
43,007,664

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Foreign currency liabilities
Demand liabilities - foreign
International Monetary Fund - Allocation of
Special Drawing Rights
Local currency liabilities
Demand liabilities - local
Accounts payable
Provision for transfer of surplus to government
Provisions

11
12
13

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Capital
General Reserve
Retained Earnings

Governor

Sept 2006
$’000

23

Deputy Governor
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Consolidated Statement of Earnings
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2007 (Expressed in Trinidad & Tobago Dollars)

Notes

Sept 2007
$’000

Income from foreign currency assets
Interest income
Interest expense

Sept 2006
$’000

1,810,762
(15,793)
1,794,969

1,522,321
(12,982)
1,509,339

Gain/<Loss> from currency translations

215,702

(19,268)

Gain from fair value changes
Loss from fair value changes

157,772
(29,069)
128,703

238,105
(47,479)
190,626

14

2,139,374

1,680,697

15

86,366
1,602
56,647
144,615

44,540
1,655
30,440
76,635

364,810

-

2,648,799

1,757,332

53,443
108,350
510,094
558
31,428
91,213
795,086

44,390
106,146
379,457
505
33,419
71,683
352,303
987,903

1,853,713

769,429

7

7

1,853,706

769,422

Income from local currency assetsincome from local
Interest income
Rental income
Other income

Decrease in provisions
Total income
Operating Expensesperating expenses
Printing and minting
Salaries and related expenses
Interest paid
Directors’ fees
Depreciation
Other operating expenses
Increase in provisions
Total Operating Expenses

16

Surplus for the period before taxation
Busines Levy Expense

17

Net Surplus after taxation
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2007 (Expressed in Trinidad & Tobago Dollars)

Issued and
Fully Paid
up Capital
$’000
Balance as at 1 October 2005

General
Reserves
$’000

Retained
Earnings
$’000

Total
$’000

100,000

100,000

(19,705)

180,295

-

-

769,422
(749,747)

769,422
(749,747)

Balance as at 30 September 2006

100,000

100,000

(30)

199,970

Balance as at 1 October 2006

100,000

100,000

(30)

199,970

Net surplus/deficit

-

-

1,853,706

1,853,706

Transfer of surplus to consolidated fund

-

-

(1,655,317)

(1,655,317)

400,000

-

-

400,000

-

185,042

(185,042)

-

500,000

285,042

13,317

798,359

Net surplus/deficit
Transfer of surplus to consolidated fund

Increase in capital
Transfer to general reserve

Balance as at 30 September 2007
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2007 (Expressed in Trinidad & Tobago Dollars)
Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Net surplus for the period before taxation
Adjustments for non cash items
Depreciation
Net gain on disposal of fixed assets
Interest income
Interest expense
Dividend income
<Decrease>/Increase in provisions
Decrease in building fund
Increase in gold reserves
Increase in foreign currency differences in 		
monetary assets & liabilities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
<Incr>/Decrease in accounts receivable & 		
prepaid expenses
Increase in other assets
Net pension asset
<Decr>/Increase in accounts payable and 		
other liabilities
Net cash used in operations before interest
Cash flows from investing activities
Net purchases of property plant and equipment
Net purchases of investments
Net repayment of loans and advances
Interest received
Dividends received
Interest paid
Decrease in International Monetary Fund
Holding of Special Drawing Rights
Payment to Consolidated Fund
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Purchase of shares in international financial
institutions
Increase in Capital
Lease payment
Net cash from financing activities
Net increase/<decrease> in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
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4

Sept 2007
$’000

Sept 2006
$’000

1,853,713

769,429

31,428
(325)
(1,881,335)
510,096
(5,502)
(364,810)
(10,100)
(44,694)

33,419
(1,655)
(1,553,878)
379,457
(8,652)
352,303
(6,734)
49,663

(101,956)

(254,728)

(933,096)
(48,322)
(31,172)

111,281
(520)
10,925

(794,707)
(1,820,782)

13,564,743
13,445,053

(31,486)
(3,436,297)
42,772
1,812,481
5,502
(68,165)

(26,109)
(4,864,356)
400,736
1,386,747
8,652
(264,583)

25,537
(749,747)

5,990
(161,895)

(2,399,403)

(3,514,818)

(86)
400,000
10,168
410,082
(3,810,103)
25,456,145
21,646,042

(10,545)
9,969
(576)
9,929,659
15,526,486
25,456,145
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2007 (Expressed in Trinidad & Tobago Dollars)

1. Incorporation & principal activities
The Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago (Central
Bank) was established as a body corporate in 1964
under the Central Bank Act (Chapter 79:02). The
principal office is located at Eric Williams Plaza,
Independence Square, Port of Spain, Trinidad and
Tobago.
The Act entrusts the Central Bank with a range
of responsibilities, among which is the promotion
of monetary, credit and exchange conditions most
favourable to the development of the economy of
Trinidad and Tobago.
The Central Bank has the exclusive right to issue
and redeem currency notes and coins in Trinidad
and Tobago and is empowered, inter alia, to act
as banker for, and render economic, financial and
monetary advice to the Government of Trinidad and
Tobago and open accounts for and accept deposits
from the Central Government, Local Government
and statutory bodies, commercial banks and other
financial institutions. It also has the authority to
make advances, purchase and sell discounted bills
of exchange and promissory notes on behalf of the
above institutions and to purchase and sell foreign
currencies and securities of other Governments and
international financial institutions.
The Central Bank is also responsible for protecting
the external value of the currency, managing the
country’s external reserves and taking steps to
preserve financial stability.
CB Services Limited, a subsidiary of Central Bank
of Trinidad and Tobago was registered on 13
September, 1991. Its registered office is located at
the Eric Williams Plaza, Independence Square, Portof-Spain. The Company was created to acquire

and take over all or any of the shares in any bank,
financial institution or any other company or
business.

2. Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of the financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been applied to all of
the years presented.

a. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for financial
assets and liabilities where the fair value and
amortised cost basis of accounting are adopted.
These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the Central Bank Act (Chapter
79:02). The Central Bank has chosen to adopt the
recognition and measurement requirements of
the International Financial Reporting Standards
in the preparation of these financial statements
together with the presentation and disclosure
framework insofar as the Central Bank considers it
appropriate to do so having regard to its functions.
These Financial Statements depart from the
International Financial Reporting Standards
because of the nature of the C e n t r a l B a n k
including its role in the development of the
financial infrastructure of the country as well
as the regulations by which it is governed. The
International Financial Reporting Standards
which have not been adopted are:
● IAS 21 – The Effect of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates
● IAS 37 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Significant accounting policies
a. Basis of preparation cont’d
● IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement.
● IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments:
Disclosures
The accounting treatment adopted for each of
these is defined in the accounting policies and
notes below. Management considers that these
Financial Statements fairly represent the Central
Bank’s financial position, financial performance
and cash flows.

b. Consolidation
These are the first consolidated financial
statements prepared by the Central Bank of
Trinidad and Tobago. Extracts of the Parent’s
financial statements are included at note 25.
Section 36(g) of the Central Bank Act empowers
the Bank with the approval of the Minister
of Finance, to acquire, hold and sell shares or
other securities of any statutory body or
company registered under the Companies Act
for the purpose of promoting the development
of a money or securities market or for financing
the economic development of Trinidad and
Tobago.
The Central Bank has interest in
a number of institutions – the Trinidad and
Tobago Unit Trust Corporation, the Deposit
Insurance
Corporation,
Caribbean
Credit
Rating
and
Information
Agency,
Home
Mortgage Bank, Trinidad and Tobago Inter
-bank Payments System (Automated Clearing
House), CB Services Limited, and the Office of the
Financial Services Ombudsman.

of the country’s financial infrastructure.
The Deposit Insurance Corporation was established
for the protection of depositors in the domestic
financial system. While the share capital was put
up by the Central Bank, the Deposit Insurance
Corporation was always conceived to be a
separate and independent institution with
its own mandate and operates as such.
The financial statements of these related
enterprises, with the exception of CB Services, have
not been consolidated with those of the Bank.

c. Foreign currency translation
i. Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in
Trinidad and Tobago dollars, which is the
Central Bank’s functional and presentation
currency.
ii. Transactions and balances
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into Trinidad
and Tobago dollars at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the close of business at the
Balance Sheet date.
Translation gains or losses at year-end exchange
rates of these monetary and non monetary
assets and liabilities are recognised in Provisions
– Foreign currency exchange rate reserves.
Foreign currency transactions are translated
at the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Foreign exchange gains and
losses
resulting
from
the
settlement
of such transactions are recognised in the
Statement of Earnings.

In all but the Deposit Insurance Corporation
and CB Services Limited, the Central Bank has a
minority financial interest in fulfilment of the
Bank’s role to help promote the development

36

Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago Annual Report 2007

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Significant accounting policies
c. Foreign currency translation cont’d
iii. Special Drawing Rights
Transactions with the International Monetary
Fund (IMF) are recorded at the local currency
equivalent of Special Drawing Rights using
rates notified by the IMF.

in the opinion of the Central Bank, requires
a specific provision.
iii. Estimate of contingent liability
The Central Bank may face litigation matters
in the normal course of business. An estimate for
legal settlement and associated cost has been
provided for in the Financial Statements.

d. Critical accounting estimates and judgments

e. Cash and cash equivalents

The Central Bank makes estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of the assets and liabilities within the financial
year. Estimates and judgements are continually
evaluated
and
are
based
on
historical
experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash
and cash equivalents comprise balances with less
than three months to maturity from the date of
acquisition. It consists of cash, balances with other
banks, short term funds and investments including
fixed deposits and reverse repurchases.

The resulting accounting estimates will seldom
equal the related actual results. The estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing material adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are illustrated below:

Reverse repurchases (Repo) are generally overnight
transactions placed at the end of the day.

i. Estimated pension obligation
The estimate of the pension obligation in
relation to the defined benefit pension scheme
operated by the Central Bank on behalf of its
employees, is primarily based on the estimation
of independent qualified actuaries. The value
of the pension obligation is affected by the
actuarial assumptions used in deriving the
estimate.
ii. Provision for bad and doubtful debt
Pursuant to Section 35(4) of the Act, provisions
are made for bad and doubtful debts in the
accounts. In this regard, the relevant assets are
shown in the Balance Sheet net of amount which,

f. Reverse repurchases

g. Investments
The Central Bank classifies its investment
securities in the following four categories: Held to
Maturity, Available for Sale, Loans and Advances
and Related Enterprises.
i. Held to maturity
Investments classified as held to maturity are
non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments and fixed maturity
that the Central Bank’s management has the
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.
Interest on these investments is recognised in
the Statement of Earnings.
ii. Available for sale
These investments are intended to be held
for an indefinite period of time and may be
sold in response to needs for liquidity or to
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Significant
g. Investments

accounting

policies

ii. Available for sale cont’d
meet the goals of the strategic asset allocation
approved by the Board.
They are initially recognised at cost
(which includes transaction costs) and are
subsequently re-measured at fair market value.
Regular purchases and sales are recognised on
the trade date.
Unrealised gains and losses on these
investments are recognised in Provisions –
Revaluation Reserve at Market Value.
When the securities are disposed of, the related
accumulated fair value adjustments are
included in the Statement of Earnings as
realised
gains
and
losses
from
investment securities.
iii. Loans and advances
Loans and advances are carried at their
expected realisable value less any provision for
impairment. Interest arrears are accrued and
provided for in the current financial period.
Determination of allowances for losses is
based on an annual appraisal of each loan or
advance. Specific provisions are made when,
in the opinion of management, credit risk
or other factors make full recovery doubtful.
Provisions created, including increases and
decreases, are recognised in the Statement of
Earnings.
iv. Related enterprises
The Central Bank has investments in several
related companies. The investments in these
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related enterprises are stated in the Balance
Sheet at cost, less provision for impairment in
value. Dividends from these related enterprises
are included as income when declared.

h. Impairment of financial assets
An investment is impaired if its carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
The amount of the impairment loss for securities
carried at amortised cost is calculated as the
difference between the securities’ carrying amount
and the present value of the expected future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest
rates.
The recoverable amount of an instrument measured
at fair value is the present value of expected future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate
of interest for a similar financial asset.

i. Employee benefits – pension obligations
The Central Bank operates a Defined Benefit
Scheme for all its eligible employees. The assets
of the Plan are held in a separate trusteeadministered scheme.
A Defined Benefit Plan is a pension plan that
defines an amount of pension benefit that an
employee will receive on retirement, usually
dependent on one or more factors such as age,
years of service and compensation. The pension
benefit is based on the final salary of the employee.
An asset or liability recognised in the Balance Sheet in
respect of the Defined Pension Plans is the present value
of the defined benefit obligation at the Balance Sheet
date less the fair value of Plan Assets, together
with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains
or losses and past service costs.
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2. Significant accounting policies
i. Employee benefits – pension obligations cont’d
The Scheme’s accounting costs are assessed on
the basis of the Projected Unit Credit Method. A
valuation is done every three years by independent
actuaries. The valuation at 30 September, 2005
and the IAS 19 Methodology were used, based
on information received from the actuarial report
dated 28 November, 2007, for the preparation of
the Financial Statements.
In accordance with the advice of the actuaries, the
Scheme’s costs of providing pensions are charged
to the Statement of Earnings in order to spread the
regular cost over the service lives of employees.
Actuarial gains and losses are recognised as income
or expense when the cumulative unrecognised
actuarial gain or loss exceeds the greater of 10%
of the defined benefit obligation and 10% of
the fair value of the Plan assets.
The pension plan is funded by payments from
employees and the Central Bank, taking into account
the recommendations of independent qualified
actuaries.

k. Leases
i. Operating leases (as lessee)
The leases entered into by the Central Bank are
primarily operating leases. The total payments
made under operating leases are charged to the
Statement of Earnings on a straight line basis
over the period of the lease. When an operating
lease is terminated before the lease period has
expired, any payment required to be made to
the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as
an expense in the period in which termination
takes place.
ii. Finance leases (as lessor)
Where the Central Bank grants long-term
leases on property, the land and the building
are treated as a finance lease. These finance
leases are valued at the lower of the gross
investment less principal payments and any
provisions in the lease, and the present value
of the minimum lease payments receivable
at the Balance Sheet date and are shown as
receivable. Lease income is recognised over
the term of the lease using the net investment
method which reflects a constant periodic rate
of return.

l. Property, plant & equipment

j. Notes and coins
The stock of notes and coins is stated at original
cost. Issues are accounted for using the First In
First Out method. All associated costs such as
shipping, handling, insurance are expensed
immediately. The printing and minting costs are
expensed when the units of currency are issued
and put into circulation.

Fixed Assets are recorded at their cost of acquisition
less accumulated depreciation. Additions or
improvements to assets during the year, which
significantly add to the value of, or extend the useful life
of such assets, are capitalised as part of the cost. When
an asset is retired or sold, any gain or loss on disposal
is dealt with through the Statement of Earnings.
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2. Significant accounting policies

l. Property, plant & equipment cont’d
Artwork, which is classified under Fixtures and
Fittings, is carried initially at cost. Every subsequent
year, Artwork will be carried at its revalued amount,
being its fair value at the date of revaluation.
Appraisals will be performed every three years by
a qualified valuer.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line
method to write down the cost of the assets to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives at
the following rates:
Description

Rates

Furniture
Fixtures and fittings
Motor vehicles
Machinery and equipment
Computer hardware
Computer software
Leasehold properties

10% per annum (pa)
10% pa
33 1/3% pa
20% pa
33 1/3% pa
20% pa
over the period of
the lease
2.5% pa
10% pa

Building
Building Improvements

m. Taxation
Section 55(1) of the Central Bank Act exempts the
Bank from the provisions of any Act relating to
income taxation, company taxation and from the
payment of stamp duty.
Its subsidiary C.B. Services Limited, is subject to
corporation tax at a rate of 25 per cent on chargeable
income. Deferred taxation arises from temporary
differences between the tax base of assets and
liabilities, and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements. The principal temporary differences arise
from depreciation on Property, Plant and Equipment
and revaluation of certain assets.

40

The Company currently does not have any
temporary difference and as such no adjustment for
Deferred Tax is required.
n. Provisions
The Central Bank has a policy of providing for all
known and foreseeable losses in the accounts and
has adopted a prudent approach to provisioning.
Provisions shown on the Balance Sheet
include the Building Fund, Foreign Currency
Translation Reserves, Gold Revaluation Reserves
and Revaluation Reserves.
o. Capital
The entire capital of the Central Bank is held by
the Government of Trinidad and Tobago. Provision
is made in Section 34(5) of the Central Bank Act,
for the Paid Up portion of the authorised capital of
the Bank to be increased each year by an amount
of not less than 15 per cent of the amount to be
paid into the Consolidated Fund, until the Paid Up
portion of the Authorised Capital is equal to the
Authorised Capital. At 30 September, 2007 the
Paid Up Capital was $500 million. On 21 August,
2007 the Authorised Capital of the Bank was
increased to $800 million.
At 30 September, 2007 the Paid Up and Authorised
Capital of C.B. Services Limited was $2 and
$50,000 respectively.
p. Reserves
Provision is made in Sections 35(3) and 35(6) of the
Central Bank Act for the Central Bank to place in
the General Reserve Fund or the Special Reserve
Funds, or in both, an amount not exceeding ten
(10) per cent of the Net surplus of the Bank for
each financial year until the General Reserve Fund
is equal to the Authorised Capital. At the end of
30 September, 2007 the General Reserve Fund
increased by $185 million to $285 million.
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2. Significant accounting policies cont’d
q. Revenue recognition
i. Interest income and interest expense
Interest income and expense are recognised in
the Statement of Earnings for all instruments
at cost.
ii. Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right
to receive payment is established.
iii. Other income and expenses
All other significant items of income and
expenditure are accounted for on the accruals
basis.

3. Financial risk management
Operational
risk
management
includes
bank-wide corporate policies which describe
the standard of conduct required of staff and
specific internal control systems designed around
the particular characteristics of various bank
activities.
In addition the Central Bank has responsibility for
the management of the official foreign currency
reserves of the country.
This includes the
determination of the amount of risk which may be
taken in the management of the portfolio. It seeks
to mitigate risks in the portfolio as follows:

Foreign exchange risk is mitigated by partly
aligning the currency composition of the foreign
portfolio to the settlement of trade.
Interest rate risk is mitigated by establishing
duration limits for the portfolio.
Liquidity risk is managed by grouping reserves
into several tranches according to liquidity
requirements, and defining specific asset classes.
Duration limits are established for each tranche,
consistent with its defined liquidity objectives.

Fair value
The following methods and assumptions have
been used to estimate the fair value of each class
of financial instrument for which it is practical
to estimate a value:
i. Fixed deposits
The fair market value is determined using
the zero coupon valuation method where the
cash flows are discounted from the spot to the
valuation date by the relevant discount factor
obtained from the LIBID curve.
ii. Securities
The fair market value is determined using
the par method where direct market quotes
of these instruments exist. This price is used
as the basis for the mark to market valuation
of the holdings.

Credit risk is mitigated by the establishment of
counterparty concentration limits and by the
establishment of minimum rating standards that
each counterparty must attain.
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4. Cash and cash equivalents
Sept 2007
$’000
Currency on hand
Balances with banks
Repurchase agreements
Gold Holdings
Fixed Deposits

Sept 2006
$’000

544
849,315
2,328,336
285,709
18,182,138

451
878,819
1,600,823
229,991
22,746,061

21,646,042

25,456,145

540
124,494
2,328,336
285,709
18,182,138
20,921,217

447
31,404
1,561,166
229,991
22,746,061
24,569,069

Represented by:
Foreign currency - cash
and cash equivalents
Currency on hand
Balances with banks
Repurchase agreements
Gold Holdings
Fixed Deposits

Local currency - cash
and cash equivalents
Cash on hand
Balances with banks
Repurchase agreement

4
724,821
724,825
21,646,042

4
847,415
39,657
887,076
25,456,145

Fixed Deposits
In 2006, the balance for Fixed Deposits included
the amount of $8,792,365,433 for the Interim
Revenue Stabilisation Fund, which was subsequently
converted to the US dollar denominated Heritage
and Stabilisation Fund on 15 March, 2007.
Local balances with banks
This balance is comprised mostly of cheque deposits
made by the Government of the Republic of
Trinidad and Tobago, which are sent for clearance
at the Commercial Banks. These are settled
against Commercial Banks’ reserves balances on
the next working day.

5. Investments

Foreign currency
investments
Held to maturity
Available for sale
Loans and advances
Local currency investments
Investments in related
enterprises (note 6)
Available for sale Local securities
Loans and advances

Total investments

42

Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago Annual Report 2007

Sept 2007
$’000

Sept 2006
$’000

10,223
20,415,967
131,252
20,557,442

9,104
16,181,681
155,532
16,346,317

25,242
218,991

25,067
6,641

126,630
370,863

145,123
176,831

20,928,305

16,523,148

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
6. Investment in related enterprises
These financial statements include the following
related party transactions during the year:-

Sept 2007
$’000
Income:
Rental Income
Other Income
Expenditure
Salaries and related
expenditure
Other expenses
Year end balances
Investments in related
enterprises
Receivables from related
enterprises
Payables to related
enterprises

1,260
25
1,285

Sept 2006
$’000
1,049
17
1,066

7. Receivables and prepaid expenses
1,252
1,000
2,252

440
440

25,242

25,067

5,562

579

370
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The Central Bank has an interest in the following
related enterprises to help promote the development
of the country’s financial infrastructure:

Sept 2007
$’000

Sept 2006
$’000

Investments in related
enterprises
Trinidad and Tobago Unit
Trust Corporation
Deposit Insurance
Corporation
Home Mortgage Bank
First Citizens Bank Limited
Trinidad and Tobago
Interbank Payments
System

The Central Bank also has a related interest in
the Office of the Financial Services Ombudsman
(OFSO). The main objectives of the OFSO are
to receive complaints arising from the provision
of financial services to individuals and small
business and to facilitate the settlement of these
complaints. The remuneration of the Financial
Services Ombudsman is met by the Central Bank
while the day to day operations of the office are
funded by the financial institutions.

Sept 2007
$’000
Foreign receivables
Foreign interest receivable
Other receivables
Local receivables
Suspense accounts
Interest receivable on
domestic investments
Prepayments
VAT
Other receivables

Sept s2006
$’000

349,843
629
350,472

291,377
291,377

950,316

12,699

18,421
4,487
1,279
16,537
991,040

8,660
4,089
1,528
8,025
35,001

At the end of 30 September 2007, the Suspense
accounts comprised amounts related to Government
tax receipts and loan repayments.

2,500
1,000

2,500
1,000

2,400
18,600

2,400
18,600

742
25,242

567
25,067
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8. Pension assets

Defined benefit obligation
Fair value of assets
Unrecognised gain/(loss)
Unutilised assets
IAS 19 net defined liability/
(asset)
Reconciliation of opening and closing defined
benefit assets
Opening defined benefit
asset
Pension cost
Bank contribution paid
Closing defined benefit
asset
Amounts recognised in the
earnings statement
Current service cost
Interest on defined
benefit obligation
Expected return on plan
assets
Amortised net gain/(loss)
Past service cost
Movement in unutilised
assets
Net pension cost
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Sept 2007
$’000

Sept 2006
$’000

221,084
(471,997)
(250,913)
20,270
106,680

181,387
(433,956)
(252,569)
20,270
139,508

(123,963)

(92,791)

(92,791)
(28,351)
(2,821)

(103,716)
13,097
(2,172)

(123,963)

(92,791)

7,097

5,302

15,788

12,606

(35,979)
14,496
3,075

(38,701)
52,557
5,197

(32,828)
(28,351)

(23,864)
13,097

Sept 2007
$’000
Return on plan assets
Expected return on plan
assets
Actuarial gain/(loss) on
plan assets
Actual return on plan
assets
Actuarial assumptions
Discount rate
Expected return on plan
assets
Projected future rate of
salary increase
Value of pension scheme
assets
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Sept 2006
$’000

35,979

38,701

3,030

(72,556)

39,009

(33,855)

8.75%

8.75%

8.40%

8.30%

7.00%

7.00%

Based on Market Value at
Balance Sheet Date

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
9. Other assets
Sept 2007
$’000
Leases
Stocks of notes and coins
Consumables

110,550
98,794
1,148
210,492

Sept 2006
$’000
120,718
50,442
1,179
172,339

Stock of notes and coins
Notes
Coins

Sept 2007
$’000
44,419
54,375
98,794

Sept 2006
$’000
46,735
3,707
50,442

In 1995, the Central Bank entered into a thirty
year finance lease agreement with the Government
of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago for the
purchase of the Ministry of Finance Building.
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10. Property, plant and equipment
Land &
Building
$’000

Furniture,
Fixture &
Fittings
$’000

Capital
work in
progress
$’000

Leasehold
Property
$’000

Machinery &
Equipment
$’000

Computer
Equipment
$’000

226,555
7,842
1,005
(1,867)
(11,862)
221,673

207
(7)
200

32,342
1
4,229
(1)
(11,164)
25,407

16,199
444
1,193
(2)
(6,685)
11,149

11,476
4,158
2,276
(75)
7,232
(1,710)
23,357

7,882
(12,445)
17,872
(51)
13,258

294,661
26,575
(1,996)
7,232
(31,428)
295,044

389,685
(168,012)
221,673

298
(98)
200

70,703
(45,296)
25,407

50,850
(39,701)
11,149

33,710
(10,353)
23,357

13,258
13,258

558,504
(263,460)
295,044

217,976
2,518
18,635
3,258
(824)
(15,008)
226,555

3,578
(3,363)
(8)
207

28,783
7,197
(14,888)
21,169
(9,919)
32,342

2,845
1,417
9,953
9,118
(220)
(6,914)
16,199

20,150
2,558
(10,337)
1,286
(611)
(1,570)
11,476

26,984
(13,690)
18,711
(24,123)
7,882

300,316
53,542
(25,778)
(33,419)
294,661

382,838
(156,283)
226,555

298
(91)
207

67,731
(35,389)
32,342

49,215
(33,016)
16,199

20,617
(9,141)
11,476

7,882
7,882

528,581
(233,920)
294,661

Total
$’000

As at 30 September
2007
Net book value
Balance b/fwd
Transfers
Reclassification of assets
Additions
Disposals
Revaluation adjustment
Depreciation for the year
Balance c/fwd
Represented by:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
As at 30 September
2006
Net book value
Balance b/fwd
Transfers
Reclassification of assets
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation for the year
Balance c/fwd
Represented by:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
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10. Property, plant and equipment cont’d
In 2006, the Bank did a hundred (100) per cent
review of its Fixed Asset Register which resulted in
the reclassification of several assets, the change in
depreciation rates and the disposal of old items no
longer in use. Additionally, the Artwork was revalued
on 5 September, 2007, by an independent qualified
valuer.

11. Demand liabilities
Sept 2007
$’000
Demand liabilities
- foreign
Foreign deposits
Government special
accounts
Demand liabilities - local
Notes in circulation
Coins in circulation
Deposits by commercial
banks
Deposits by non banking
financial institutions
Statutory deposits insurance companies
Deposits by government
and government agencies
Deposits by other current
accounts
Deposits by regional and
international institutions
Deposits by Interim
Revenue Stabilisation Fund

Sept 2006
$’000

12,950

7,158

237,993
250,943

176,122
183,280

3,297,710
137,024

2,823,410
122,031

6,381,292

5,715,436

365,802

373,860

51,374

11,017

10,474,398

11,349,615

2,032,513

1,748,768

1,028,771

869,848

23,768,884

8,792,365
31,806,350

Deposits by financial institutions
The statutory reserve requirements of commercial
banks and non-bank financial institutions
r e m a i n e d unchanged at 11 and 9 per cent
respectively throughout the year. The Central
Bank also continued the special measures
i m p l e m e n t e d in 2006 to manage the excess
liquidity in the system. Accordingly, interest
bearing deposits held by commercial banks, (TT$
1.0 billion for one (1) year maturing December
2006 and TT$ 0.5 billion for one (1) year maturing
June 2007), were rolled over for one year, and the
temporary secondary reserve requirement of two
(2) per cent of commercial banks’ prescribed
liabilities, introduced in October 2006, were
maintained throughout the year.

12. Accounts payable
Sept 2007
$’000
Trade payables and
accrued charges
Interest payable
Unclaimed monies
Government special
accounts
Blocked accounts
Other payables

Sept 2006
$’000

719,685
566,443
3,728

60,358
124,512
2,878

17,576
13,893,533
1,545,190
16,746,155

20,529
8,880,384
43,730
9,132,391

13. Provisions
The Central Bank has adopted a prudent approach
for provisioning in order to maintain adequate capacity
to fulfil its functions. This accounting treatment
reflects the limitations on the creation of reserves
set out in Section 35 of the Central Bank Act.
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13. Provisions cont’d
The Act specifies the terms and conditions governing
General and Special Reserve funds and the creation
of provisions for bad and doubtful debts, depreciation
in assets, contributions to staff pension benefits
and other contingencies before payment of the net
surplus for the financial year to the Government.
This is a departure from the definition outlined
in IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets. The provision shown on the
face of the Balance Sheet comprises:

Sept 2007
$’000
Revaluation reserve on
investments
Pension reserve
Financial institutions
intervention
Gold revaluation reserve
Building fund
Foreign currency
exchange rate reserves

Sept 2006
$’000

544,691
123,963

19,375
92,791

10,000
90,576
229,902

10,000
135,270
240,002

15,183
1,014,315

10,322
507,760

14. Income from foreign
currency assets
Sept 2007
$’000
Interest on United States
Dollar Balances & Securities
Interest on Sterling
Balances & Securities
Interest on other foreign
balances & securities
Currency Gains/Losses
realised
Gains/Losses from fair
value changes

1,750,022

1,474,503

24,792

20,489

35,948

27,329

215,702

(19,268)

157,772
2,184,236

238,105
1,741,158

15,793

12,982

29,069
44,862

47,479
60,461

2,139,374

1,680,697

Expenses from Foreign
Currency Assets
Interest on United States
Dollar Balances & Securities
Losses from fair value
changes
Net income from foreign
currency assets
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Sept 2006
$’000
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15. Interest income from
local currency assets
Sept 2007
$’000
Investment Securities
Loans
Other

18. Capital commitments
There was $6,000,000 in outstanding commitments
for capital expenditure at 30 September, 2007
(2006 – $9,000,000).

Sept 2006
$’000

17,964
66,923
1,479
86,366

10,902
26,075
7,563
44,540

16. Other operating expenses
Sept 2007
$’000
Other operating
expenses include:
Advertising and public
relations
Computer expenses
Electricity
Insurance
Legal fees & settlements
Loss on disposal of assets
(see note 10)
Maintenance cost
Printing and stationery
Professional Fees

i. Operating leases where the Bank
is the lessor

Sept 2006
$’000

3,045
8,057
3,946
2,387
42,953

2,519
7,073
3,587
2,274
31,862

(28)
13,957
3,711
4,301

(1,655)
10,488
3,335
3,847

17. Taxation
Sept 2007
$’000
Business Levy

Sept 2006
$’000
7

7

3,297
3,297
7
7

3,297
3,297
7
7

Tax paid/payable by the
company was
calculated as follows:
Net Surplus
Corporation tax @ 25%
Income not subject to tax
Business Levy
Tax Charge

19. Leasehold obligations –
operating leases

The Central Bank had entered into three
year lease arrangements in 2006 with
two companies for offices located in the
Central Bank building. The tenants are
charged a monthly rental and service fees
based on the square footage occupied.

ii. Operating leases where the Bank
is the lessee
The Central Bank also leases equipment and
premises under operating lease arrangements.
The leases have varying terms, escalation
clauses and renewal rights.

20. Comparative figures
Some items in the Financial Statements have been
reclassified in order to achieve a clearer or more
appropriate presentation. These re-classifications
relate to the offsetting of financial assets and
liabilities. Most are relatively minor and financially
immaterial. The material items which were
reclassified to increase transparency included –
Foreign currency securities and Accounts payable,
and are reflected below:
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20. Comparative figures cont’d
Movement
Sept 2006
$’000
Reclassification of
Balance Sheet Items
as at 30 September, 2006
ASSETS
Foreign currency
securities
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable

102,131
102,131

21. Prior Period Adjustments
The financial statements include two prior period
adjustments totalling $26.4 million. These adjustments represent:

i. An amount of $16.4 million which represents an overstatement of the Gold Holdings
as at 30 September 2005. At the end of 30
September 2006, the amount transferred to
Government was reduced by this amount.

ii. An amount of $10.1 million which represents an adjustment for dividends received
on behalf of CB Services Limited as at 30
September 2006. Consequently, the 2006
figures are adjusted for this amount.

22. National Financial
Literacy Programme
In January 2007, the Bank launched the National
Financial Literacy Programme. The programme
is being funded by a wide range of stakeholders,
both in the financial and non-financial sectors.
The main objectives of the programme are to:
• sensitise the population about the significance
of personal financial planning, budgeting, and
management;
• provide the public with the tools and skills
necessary to enable them to confront financial
issues with a greater degree of confidence
and knowledge and
• develop the awareness and consciousness of
the public in general about the benefits and
risks of the financial products and services.

Sept 2007
$’000
Receipts
Contributions received
Total Receipts
Payments
Administrative Cost
Advertising & Printing
Material
Consultancy & Lecture
Fees
Salaries
Total Expenditure
Receipts over payments

3,000
3,000
53
3,420
1,179
1,665
6,317
(3,317)

Represented in the
Financial Statements by:
Accounts Receivable
Bank Account
Salaries and related
expenses
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23. Share Capital
Sept 2007
$’000

Sept 2006
$’000

Authorised capital

800,000

100,000

Paid-up capital

500,000

100,000

24. Key Management
Compensation
Key management personnel are those persons
having authority and responsibility, for planning,
directing, and controlling the key activities of
the Bank. Management personnel include all
executives, senior, middle and junior managers.

Sept 2007
$’000
Short-term employee
benefits
Post-employment
benefits
Other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
Equity compensation
benefits

Sept 2006
$’000

21,702

15,894

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

The 2007 short-term employee benefits include
salary arrears for the period January 2006 to
Sepetember 2006.
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25. Parent
The Financial Statements of the Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago are presented below:

Balance Sheet
As at 30 September 2007

ASSETS
Foreign currency assets
Foreign currency cash and cash equivalents
Foreign currency investments
Foreign receivables
Subscriptions to international financial institutions
International Monetary Fund - Holdings Special
Drawing Rights
Local currency assets
Local currency cash and cash equivalents
Local investments
Pension assets
Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses
Other assets
Property, plant and equipment
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Foreign currency liabilities
Demand liabilities - foreign
International Monetary Fund - Allocation of
Special Drawing Rights
Local currency liabilities
Demand liabilities - local
Accounts payable
Provision for transfer of surplus to government
Provisions
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Capital
General Reserve

52

Sept 2007
$’000

Sept 2006
$’000

20,921,217
20,557,442
350,472
121,578

24,569,069
16,346,317
291,377
121,491

9,105
41,959,814

20,711
41,348,965

724,825
370,863
123,963
991,040
210,492
295,044
2,716,227

887,076
176,831
92,791
35,001
172,339
294,661
1,658,699

44,676,041

43,007,664

250,943
442,068

183,280
428,136

693,011

611,416

23,768,884
16,759,472
1,655,317
1,014,315
43,197,988

31,806,350
9,132,391
749,747
507,760
42,196,248

500,000
285,042
785,042
44,676,041

100,000
100,000
200,000
43,007,664
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25. Parent cont’d

Statement of Earnings
For the period ended 30 September 2007

Sept 2007
$’000

Sept 2006
$’000

Income from foreign currency assets
Interest income
Interest expense

1,810,762
(15,793)
1,794,969

1,522,321
(12,982)
1,509,339

Gain/<Loss> from currency translations

215,702

(19,268)

Gain from fair value changes
Loss from fair value changes

157,772
(29,069)
128,703

238,105
(47,479)
190,626

2,139,374

1,680,697

Interest income
Rental income
Other income

86,366
1,602
53,347
141,315

44,540
1,655
27,140
73,335

Decrease in provisions

364,810

-

2,645,499

1,754,032

53,443
108,350
510,094
558
31,428
91,210
795,083

44,390
106,146
379,457
505
33,419
71,680
352,303
987,900

1,850,416

766,132

Income from local currency assets

Total income
Operating expenses
Printing and minting
Salaries and related expenses
Interest paid
Directors’ fees
Depreciation
Other operating expenses
Increase in provisions
Total operating expenses
Net surplus for the period
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25. Parent cont’d

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 September 2007

Issued and
Fully Paid
Up Capital
$’000
Balance as at 1 October 2005

Retained
Earnings

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

100,000

100,000

(26,442)

173,558

Net surplus/deficit

-

-

766,132

766,132

Transfer of surplus to Consolidated Fund

-

-

(749,747)

(749,747)

Balance as at 30 September 2006

100,000

100,000

(10,057)

189,943

Balance as at 1 October 2006

100,000

100,000

(10,057)

189,943

Net surplus/deficit

-

-

1,850,416

1,850,416

Transfer of surplus to Consolidated Fund

-

-

(1,655,317)

(1,655,317)

400,000

-

-

400,000

-

185,042

(185,042)

-

500,000

285,042

-

785,042

Increase in capital
Transfer to General Reserve
Balance as at 30 September 2007

54

General
Reserves
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25. Parent cont’d
Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 September 2007

Sept 2007
$’000
Cash flows from operating activities
Net surplus for the period before taxation
Adjustments for non cash items
Depreciation
Net gain on disposal of fixed assets
Interest income
Interest expense
Dividend income
<Decrease>/Increase in provisions
Decrease in building fund
Increase in gold reserves
Increase in foreign currency differences in monetary assets &
liabilities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
<Increase>/Decrease in accounts receivable & prepaid expenses
Increase in other assets
Net pension asset
<Decrease>/Increase in accounts payable and other liabilities
Net cash used in operations before interest
Cash flows from investing activities
Net purchases of property plant and equipment
Net purchases of investments
Net repayment of loans and advances
Interest received
Dividends received
Interest paid
Decrease in International Monetary Fund-Holding of Special
Drawing Rights
Payment to Consolidated Fund
Net cash used in investing activities

1,850,416

766,132

31,428
(325)
(1,881,335)
510,096
(2,202)
(364,810)
(10,100)
(44,694)

33,419
(1,655)
(1,553,878)
379,457
(5,352)
352,303
(6,734)
49,663

(101,956)

(254,728)

(929,796)
(48,322)
(31,172)
(794,710)
(1,817,482)

114,581
(520)
10,925
13,564,740
13,448,353

(31,486)
(3,436,297)
42,772
1,812,481
2,202
(68,165)

(26,109)
(4,864,356)
400,736
1,386,747
5,352
(264,583)

25,537
(749,747)
(2,402,703)

5,990
(161,895)
(3,518,118)

(86)
400,000
10,168
410,082

(10,545)
9,969
(576)

(3,810,103)
25,456,145
21,646,042

9,929,659
15,526,486
25,456,145

Cash flows from financing activities
Purchase of shares in international financial institutions
Increase in Capital
Lease payment
Net cash from financing activities
Net increase/<decrease> in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

Sept 2006
$’000
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Appendices
Mesh Water Mark
Central Bank Money Museum

Operational Statistics

Items used during Slavery
Central Bank Money Museum
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Table A.1

Currency in Circulation

2004-2007
(Dollars Thousand)

End of
Month

AI

Notes
(Old TT)

Notes
(Republic)

Total Notes
in Circulation

Coins

Total
Currency in
Circulation

2004

19,088

2,120,742

2,139,830

97,369

2,237,199

2005

19,088

2,849,931

2,869,019

121,290

2,990,309

Sep-06

19,088

2,808,886

2,827,974

122,031

2,950,005

Oct-06

19,088

2,908,997

2,928,085

123,844

3,051,929

Nov-06

19,088

2,979,868

2,998,956

125,731

3,124,687

Dec-06

19,088

3,418,501

3,437,589

127,203

3,564,792

Jan-07

19,088

2,936,017

2,955,105

127,679

3,082,784

Feb-07

19,088

3,076,596

3,095,684

128,454

3,224,138

Mar-07

19,088

3,085,637

3,104,725

129,319

3,234,044

Apr-07

19,088

3,027,988

3,047,076

130,561

3,177,637

May-07

19,088

3,144,817

3,163,905

132,124

3,296,029

Jun-07

19,088

3,144,985

3,164,073

133,353

3,297,426

Jul-07

19,088

3,207,140

3,226,228

134,687

3,360,915

Aug-07

19,087

3,267,201

3,286,288

135,893

3,422,181

Sep-07

19,087

3,284,079

3,303,166

137,025

3,440,191
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Source: Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago.
1
Includes Exchequer, Trust Funds and Other Public Deposits, Government SDR Allocation and Other Deposits.
2
Includes Foreign Currencies on hand.
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II

2,635,644
2,642,098
2,991,446
2,701,001
2,818,129
2,807,359
2,883,836
2,870,780
2,898,860
2,909,717
2,985,138
2,945,441

3,045,280
3,116,675
3,560,422
3,073,630
3,219,203
3,228,663
3,172,608
3,291,494
3,292,409
3,351,802
3,416,953
3,434,734

2006/07
OCTOBER
NOVEMBER
DECEMBER
JANUARY
FEBRUARY
MARCH
APRIL
MAY
JUNE
JULY
AUGUST
SEPTEMBER

5,511,480
5,348,252
5,687,978
5,382,528
5,504,236
5,785,675
5,163,272
5,326,190
6,169,690
5,812,444
2,119,038
6,381,292

2,698,065
3,086,570
4,672,471
3,913,844
1,000,000
4,853,391
3,808,583
4,154,646
5,043,900
5,257,363
4,691,971
5,715,436

395,846
399,192
384,047
374,744
375,225
380,395
378,649
380,575
370,017
367,737
0
417,176

431,707
426,742
370,644
343,248
0
367,709
364,091
364,478
360,808
357,947
357,605
384,877

24,036,848
22,759,770
21,189,971
22,679,983
23,044,137
13,301,572
14,311,996
13,348,464
14,386,199
14,603,205
13,276,882
13,535,682

13,230,046
13,311,191
15,099,976
17,037,895
16,727,326
18,085,356
19,804,100
20,043,762
22,060,408
23,673,292
21,872,947
22,760,596

Organisations

428,136
428,136
428,136
428,136
428,136
428,136
428,136
444,076
442,068
442,068
442,068
442,068

418,945
415,645
414,591
414,591
417,149
418,797
427,922
427,922
428,136
428,136
428,136
428,136

1
International
Currency in Commercial Non-Bank
Circulation
Banks
Financial Government & Organisations
Total
Institutions Governmental

2005/06
OCTOBER
NOVEMBER
DECEMBER
JANUARY
FEBRUARY
MARCH
APRIL
MAY
JUNE
JULY
AUGUST
SEPTEMBER

End of
Month

LIABILITIES

DEPOSITS

Table A.2

10,762,552
12,181,253
10,544,615
11,123,061
12,905,972
13,308,786
22,808,791
23,389,162
16,454,283
17,060,132
22,734,678
19,680,047

9,661,560
9,459,151
9,199,581
9,572,800
12,701,009
9,347,633
9,867,219
10,258,037
10,044,117
9,528,295
10,896,822
10,573,178

Other
Liabilities

200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
785,042

200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000

Capital &
Reserve
Funds

44,380,142
44,433,278
41,995,169
43,262,082
45,676,909
36,633,227
46,463,452
46,379,961
41,314,666
41,837,388
42,189,619
44,676,041

29,275,967
29,541,397
32,948,709
34,183,379
33,863,613
36,080,245
37,355,751
38,319,625
41,036,229
42,354,750
41,432,619
43,007,664

Total
Liabilities

25,398,306
24,160,353
23,324,239
23,159,307
23,358,935
16,114,855
25,949,438
25,516,939
19,940,549
20,460,070
19,961,378
20,921,217

15,751,756
16,396,653
19,531,615
17,920,760
16,550,334
18,880,348
19,914,384
20,580,697
23,340,550
24,359,663
23,477,007
24,569,069

2
Balances
with Banks
Abroad

(Dollars Thousand)

17,314,812
18,404,003
17,188,746
18,736,045
20,499,005
19,083,226
18,885,161
18,758,897
19,943,864
19,997,036
20,749,893
20,557,442

12,256,906
12,069,827
11,888,029
14,907,417
16,080,746
15,907,781
15,945,064
16,345,497
16,489,049
16,307,226
16,625,600
16,346,317

25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402

25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402
25,402

96,089
96,089
96,089
96,089
96,089
96,089
96,089
96,089
96,185
96,192
96,177
96,176

85,545
85,545
96,089
96,089
96,089
96,089
96,089
96,089
96,089
96,089
96,089
96,089

Monetary Fund Organisations

20,711
18,547
18,547
18,547
15,905
15,905
15,883
12,940
12,881
12,881
9,048
9,105

22,105
23,412
23,353
23,353
23,681
23,775
24,269
22,705
22,717
22,717
20,711
20,711

SDR’s

ASSETS

Gold
Subscriptions
Other
to
Foreign subscription to
Securities International International

EXTERNAL
ASSETS

CENTRAL BANK STATEMENT OF LIABILITIES AND ASSETS, 2005-2007

155,633
181,275
167,354
187,398
193,257
269,526
277,154
236,601
283,000
332,492
342,678
370,863

172,493
164,581
175,108
175,108
187,608
175,108
189,516
241,772
232,099
484,668
165,948
176,831

1,369,189
1,547,609
1,174,792
1,039,294
1,488,316
1,028,224
1,214,325
1,733,093
1,012,785
913,315
1,005,043
2,695,836

961,760
775,977
1,209,113
1,035,250
899,753
971,742
1,161,027
1,007,463
830,323
1,058,985
1,021,862
1,773,245

TT Dollar Other Assets
Securities including
Fixed Assets

44,380,142
44,433,278
41,995,169
43,262,082
45,676,909
36,633,227
46,463,452
46,379,961
41,314,666
41,837,388
42,189,619
44,676,041

29,275,967
29,541,397
32,948,709
34,183,379
33,863,613
36,080,245
37,355,751
38,319,625
41,036,229
42,354,750
41,432,619
43,007,664

Total
Assets

Table A.3

COMMERCIAL BANKS:

AVERAGE DEPOSIT LIABILITIES, REQUIRED CASH RESERVES AND ACTUAL CASH RESERVES
For Period Ending September 2007

Reserve
Period
Ending

AIII

Average
Deposit
Liabilities
($000)

Required Cash
Reserves
($000)

Average
Actual
Cash Reserves
($000)

3-Oct-06
10-Oct-06
17-Oct-06
24-Oct-06
31-Oct-06

26,769,327
26,952,291
27,138,191
27,373,364
27,717,145

2,944,626
2,964,752
2,985,201
3,011,070
3,048,886

3,941,232
3,735,075
3,570,071
3,326,370
3,365,834

7-Nov-06
14-Nov-06
21-Nov-06
28-Nov-06

27,864,400
27,950,964
27,982,582
27,852,173

3,065,084
3,074,606
3,078,084
3,063,739

3,215,598
3,323,603
3,214,186
3,453,943

5-Dec-06
12-Dec-06
19-Dec-06
26-Dec-06

27,748,555
27,719,782
27,842,491
27,967,791

3,052,341
3,049,176
3,062,674
3,076,457

3,427,613
3,426,199
3,392,220
3,681,115

2-Jan-07
9-Jan-07
16-Jan-07
23-Jan-07
30-Jan-07

28,070,945
28,320,391
28,458,300
28,682,327
28,895,627

3,087,804
3,115,243
3,130,413
3,155,056
3,178,519

3,580,640
3,497,735
3,220,893
3,214,904
3,316,711

6-Feb-07
13-Feb-07
20-Feb-07
27-Feb-07

28,900,018
29,020,473
28,963,036
29,042,500

3,179,002
3,192,252
3,185,934
3,194,675

3,632,761
3,312,766
3,281,077
3,198,614

6-Mar-07
13-Mar-07
20-Mar-07
27-Mar-07

28,987,218
28,836,055
28,685,555
28,529,000

3,188,594
3,171,966
3,155,411
3,138,190

3,497,581
3,401,899
3,450,536
3,433,516

3-Apr-07
10-Apr-07
17-Apr-07
24-Apr-07

28,469,527
28,473,064
28,604,955
28,482,555

3,131,648
3,132,037
3,146,545
3,133,081

3,800,053
3,170,674
3,497,205
3,523,953

1-May-07
8-May-07
15-May-07
22-May-07
29-May-07

28,412,245
28,469,945
28,573,709
28,722,055
28,803,055

3,125,347
3,131,694
3,143,108
3,159,426
3,168,336

3,173,666
3,179,326
3,260,585
3,247,770
3,234,909

5-Jun-07
12-Jun-07
19-Jun-07
26-Jun-07

28,722,755
28,555,536
28,693,655
28,953,409

3,159,503
3,141,109
3,156,302
3,184,875

3,263,869
3,450,854
3,670,312
3,747,218

3-Jul-07
10-Jul-07
17-Jul-07
24-Jul-07
31-Jul-07

29,294,482
29,689,682
30,012,945
29,981,509
29,833,691

3,222,393
3,265,865
3,301,424
3,297,966
3,281,706

3,960,889
3,282,918
3,313,771
3,609,113
3,518,061

7-Aug-07
14-Aug-07
21-Aug-07
28-Aug-07

29,747,555
29,779,427
30,158,082
30,590,345

3,272,231
3,275,737
3,317,389
3,364,938

3,808,959
3,897,467
3,606,299
3,656,564

4-Sep-07
11-Sep-07
18-Sep-07
25-Sep-07

30,951,882
31,241,573
31,318,873
31,510,673

3,404,707
3,436,573
3,445,076
3,466,174

3,741,692
3,762,175
3,531,971
3,592,929
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Table A.4

NON-BANK FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS:

AVERAGE DEPOSIT LIABILITIES, REQUIRED CASH RESERVES AND ACTUAL CASH RESERVES
For Period Ending September 2007

Reserve
Period
Ending

Average
Deposit
Liabilities
($000)

Required Cash
Reserves
($000)

Average
Actual
Cash Reserves
($000)

3-Oct-06
10-Oct-06
17-Oct-06
24-Oct-06
31-Oct-06

4,125,656
4,208,211
4,263,133
4,336,356
4,379,311

371,309
378,739
383,682
390,272
394,138

373,643
379,983
384,904
391,500
395,457

7-Nov-06
14-Nov-06
21-Nov-06
28-Nov-06

4,407,289
4,413,111
4,430,367
4,429,767

396,656
397,180
398,733
398,679

397,917
398,537
399,961
399,991

5-Dec-06
12-Dec-06
19-Dec-06
26-Dec-06

4,418,367
4,401,178
4,339,211
4,304,078

397,653
396,106
390,529
387,367

399,118
397,587
391,965
388,646

2-Jan-07
9-Jan-07
16-Jan-07
23-Jan-07
30-Jan-07

4,255,078
4,223,633
4,223,400
4,199,856
4,176,456

382,957
380,127
380,106
377,987
375,881

384,046
381,272
381,206
379,122
377,022

6-Feb-07
13-Feb-07
20-Feb-07
27-Feb-07

4,151,589
4,123,700
4,115,800
4,123,011

373,643
371,133
370,422
371,071

374,158
372,440
371,522
373,133

6-Mar-07
13-Mar-07
20-Mar-07
27-Mar-07

4,149,922
4,176,944
4,204,478
4,229,444

373,493
375,925
378,403
380,650

374,023
376,266
379,698
381,023

3-Apr-07
10-Apr-07
17-Apr-07
24-Apr-07

4,222,333
4,217,800
4,211,433
4,203,356

380,010
379,602
379,029
378,302

380,394
379,982
379,402
378,673

1-May-07
8-May-07
15-May-07
22-May-07
29-May-07

4,202,833
4,205,233
4,195,544
4,178,933
4,199,578

378,255
378,471
377,599
376,104
377,962

378,649
378,868
377,974
376,875
378,480

5-Jun-07
12-Jun-07
19-Jun-07
26-Jun-07

4,207,778
4,072,267
4,091,322
4,094,511

378,700
366,504
368,219
368,506

386,018
367,330
369,040
369,455

3-Jul-07
10-Jul-07
17-Jul-07
24-Jul-07
31-Jul-07

4,099,344
4,092,433
4,086,211
4,070,422
4,064,189

368,941
368,319
367,759
366,338
365,777

370,017
369,540
369,051
367,444
366,835

7-Aug-07
14-Aug-07
21-Aug-07
28-Aug-07

4,071,289
4,084,233
4,090,478
4,102,556

366,416
367,581
368,143
369,230

367,202
368,168
368,677
369,856

4-Sep-07
11-Sep-07
18-Sep-07
25-Sep-07

4,097,144
4,092,644
4,096,422
4,083,856

368,743
368,338
368,678
367,547

369,201
368,757
369,069
367,930
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